FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/6/2020 2:11 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/7/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98726-2</u> Court of Appeals No. 51414-1-II Lewis Co. Superior Court Cause No. 14-2-00917-6

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

DARCY L. JOHNSON, a single woman,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

George M. Ahrend WSBA #25160 Ahrend Law Firm PLLC 100 E. Broadway Ave. Moses Lake, WA 98837 (509) 764-9000 Joseph M. Mano, Jr.
WSBA #5728
Mano, McKerricher & Paroutaud,
Inc., P.C.
P.O. Box 1123
Chehalis, WA 98532
(360) 748-6641

Co-Counsel for Petitioner

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
CITATION TO COURT ON APPEALS DECISION
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Liability of WSLCB2
B. Exclusion of Johnson's expert
ARGUMENT11
A. The Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with the holding of <i>Iwai</i> regarding sufficiency of the evidence to go to the jury justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)11
B. Whether this Court should apply the "reasonably foreseeable" standard for premises liability toward business invitees such as Johnson is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4)
C. The Court of Appeals' refusal to consider Johnson's RAP 2.4(a) assignment of error conflicts with other Court of Appeals decisions, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(2)18
CONCLUSION19
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Charlton v. Toys R UsDelaware, Inc., 158 Wn. App. 906, 246 P.3d 199 (2010)18
Cooper v. Ross Dress For Less, Inc., 2014 WL 637644 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 18, 2014)18
Davis v. Baugh Indus. Contractors, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 413, 150 P.3d 545 (2007)17
Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc., 93 Wn. 2d 127, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980)
Fredrickson v. Bertolino's Tacoma, Inc., 131 Wn. App. 183, 127 P.3d 5 (2005), rev. denied, 157 Wn.2d 1026 (2006)
Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 649, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994)16
In re Parentage of C.A.M.A., 154 Wn.2d 52, 109 P.3d 405 (2005)11
Iwai v. State, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996)passim
Johnson v. State, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1011, 2019 WL 4187744 (Div. 2, Sept. 4, 2019)
Kitsap All. of Prop. Owners v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 152 Wn. App. 190, 217 P.3d 365 (2009), rev. granted &
Cause remanded, 168 Wn.2d 1031, 231 P.3d 166 (2010)

State v. Obert,
50 Wn. App. 139, 747 P.2d 502 (1987)19
State v. Stivason,
134 Wn. App. 648, 142 P.3d 189 (2006), rev. denied,
160 Wn.2d 1016 (2017)19
Sundquist v. BRE Properties, Inc.,
2012 WL 750537 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 8, 2012)17
Statutes and Rules
CR 50(d)
DAD 2.4()
RAP 2.4(a)
RAP 2.5(a)19
DAD 12 4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)11, 15
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Other Authorities
6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 120.06.02 (7th ed.)14

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Darcy Johnson ("Johnson") seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals designated below.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court and vacated the jury's verdict finding the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board ("WSLCB") liable to Johnson. *See Johnson v. State*, *noted at* 10 Wn. App. 2d 1011, 2019 WL 4187744 (Div. 2, Sept. 4, 2019). A copy of the decision is reproduced in the Appendix beginning at A-1. The appellate court denied Johnson's motion for reconsideration on March 26, 2020, and denied Johnson's motion to publish on June 5, 2020. Copies of these orders are reproduced in the Appendix beginning at A-25 & A-34.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' decision below conflict with the holding of this Court in *Iwai v. State*, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996), regarding the sufficiency of evidence to support a *constructive notice* standard of premises liability to business invitees?
- 2. Should this Court reinstate the jury's verdict and apply the *reasonably foreseeable* standard for premises liability to business invitees, as urged by the 4-Justice plurality of the Court in *Iwai*?

3. If the jury's verdict is not reinstated, is Johnson entitled to reversal and remand with instructions to admit the testimony of her human factors engineering expert regarding liability, causation and damages?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Liability of WSLCB.

Darcy Johnson was injured at a WSLCB store on June 18, 2011. She and her then-boyfriend, now-husband, Steve Pallas ("Pallas"), stopped by the store to purchase a gift for a friend who had done a favor for Johnson's father. It had been raining continuously ever since they got up that morning, between 6 and 7 a.m. RP 148:3-4, 178:12-20, 381:1-382:1 & 383:24-25. They arrived at the store approximately 5 ½ hours later, between 11:30 and 11:45 a.m. RP 383:21-24. Pallas was walking in front of Johnson, and as soon as he stepped off a mat in the doorway, he slipped. RP 148:12-14 & 173:15-18. He turned around to warn Johnson to be careful, but before he could say anything she fell down. RP 148:14-16.

The WSLCB store manager, Jay Smiley, saw Johnson fall out of the corner of his eye. The store opened at 10 a.m., and Smiley arrived around 9:30 a.m., ½ hour before opening. RP 89:6-19. The store had been open for approximately 1½ hours before Johnson and Pallas came in. The store was busy because it was a Saturday. RP 91:8-11. Normally, the store had 700-800 customers on Saturdays. RP 95:8-10.

In his deposition, Smiley testified that it had started raining about 15 minutes before Johnson fell, but at trial he testified that he did not remember and acknowledged that it could have been raining when he arrived for work. RP 89:25-90:9. Smiley acknowledged that "[r]ainy days *always* bring muddy footprints." RP 97:11 (brackets & emphasis added). It was common for customers to enter the store with wet feet anytime it was wet outside. RP 105:24-106:3. Due to the lack of an awning on the outside of the building, customers' "feet get wet and it comes in the store." RP 108:7-12. "The water would come in with them." RP 109:15-16.

One of Smiley's job duties was to put out a highly visible yellow sign warning customers that the floor of the store is "slippery when wet" whenever it rains:

Q. [Counsel for Johnson] As part of your duties to—is to put out a very visible yellow sign that says, "slippery when wet"?

A. [Smiley] Yes.

Q. Right?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that your duty to do that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you told me, did you not, in your deposition that what—I asked you what triggers that responsibility, that need to put it out. And you told me what?

A. When it rains.

RP 90:15-91:2 (brackets & emphasis added).

Q. [Counsel for Johnson] And the purpose of putting that sign out is to prevent people from falling; isn't that correct?

A. [Smiley] It's a warning sign, yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And it doesn't say, "wet floor." It says "floor slippery when wet"?

A. Correct.

Q. And that is put out when you have a need, and that need is when it rains?

A. Yes, sir.

RP 108:13-21 (brackets & emphasis added). The warning sign was needed "[j]ust as soon as it started raining." RP 110:7-10 (brackets added).

On the day Johnson was injured, Smiley acknowledged that he failed to put out the warning sign, even though it had been raining. RP 91:3-7 & 108:19-23. He did not take the time to do so because he was the only person in the store and he was busy helping other customers. RP 91:8-11 & 95:17-19.

After Johnson rested, WSLCB moved the superior court for judgment as a matter of law, arguing there was insufficient evidence of liability, particular insufficient evidence of constructive notice that the floor was slippery. RP 472:25-479:10. The superior court denied the motion, reasoning as follows:

I am denying the state's motion. When reviewing the facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, there is sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find the defendant liable. I understand that the state is arguing that Mr. Smiley was not put on notice because nobody knows whether or not there was water on the floor. However, there was some testimony from the plaintiff that her pants were wet. There could be a reasonable inference that there was water on the floor from the jury. And I think also the fact that Mr. Smiley did testify that when Mr. Mano asked him, when does the danger start? The danger starts when it rains. And so when it rains, he said that it's their -- not duty, but he said it was their policy and practice to put the sign out when it rains. He said he saw it raining. About 15 minutes later, he was helping customers, and he didn't have the opportunity to put it out. I think based on that testimony there could be a reasonable inference from the jury that Mr. Smiley knew or should have known of the dangers there.

RP 484:15-485:10.

After the close of evidence, the superior court instructed the jury regarding WSLCB's liability, using instructions adapted from the Washington Pattern Instructions, all of which were either proposed or agreed-to by WSLCB. CP 512, 515, 517-20. These instructions required Johnson to prove constructive notice of the slippery floor. *Id.* Under these instructions, the jury found that WSLCB was negligent and returned a verdict in Johnson's favor. CP 527.

Post-trial, WSLCB filed another motion for judgment as a matter of law, again arguing that there was insufficient evidence of constructive notice of the slippery condition of the floor. CP 546-51. The superior court again denied WSLCB's motion and explained:

The court is going to deny the state's motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The first issue in regards to whether or not the plaintiff met the burden of establishing notice, as Mr. Mano pointed out, this has been argued multiple times now by different judges or to different judges. There was sufficient evidence for the trier of fact to infer notice based on smiley's testimony that it was store practice to put the sign up upon rain. That was his testimony. I have gone through his transcript several times and his testimony is that when it rained, it was store practice that the sign went out. He admitted in this particular situation that he waited 15 minutes after knowing that it was raining. He said that he knew it was raining, he waited 15 minutes. He didn't put the sign out. He admitted in his testimony that he should have put the sign out as soon as it started raining but that he didn't. There was also testimony from the plaintiff that there was water on the floor. There was testimony from Mr. Pallas that he had slipped when he entered as well. And furthermore, the fact that it was store practice to put out the sign, the jury could logically infer from that that the state had knowledge that the rain presented a hazard. So obviously if it's their practice to put out a sign when it's raining, they obviously had some kind of knowledge that the rain and the slip -- the floor would present a hazard that they were aware of. And I think it's very obvious that the jury could infer all of this, given the jury's verdict, as Mr. Mano pointed out, it was a unanimous verdict. All 12 agreed. So I think that that also goes to the fact that it was easily inferred that there was notice.

RP 1043:24-1045:8.

WSLCB appealed the judgment entered on the jury's verdict. CP 638-46. In response, Johnson argued that there was ample evidence of constructive notice to establish liability, and also that the appellate court should follow the reasonably foreseeable standard for premises liability toward business invitees urged by a 4-Justice plurality of this Court in *Iwai*. Resp. Br., at 32-33.

The Court of Appeals reversed on grounds that there was insufficient evidence of constructive notice, and stated its reasoning as follows:

Johnson relies on Smiley's testimony that the store put out the "slippery when wet" sign if it was raining to establish constructive notice. However, this does not establish that Smiley had constructive notice of an unreasonably dangerous condition in the store. At best, Johnson has established that, because it was raining, Smiley was aware of the *possibility* that water could be tracked into store making the floor wet. But without any evidence that there actually was water on the floor or how long water had been on the floor, Johnson cannot establish that Smiley had constructive notice of an unreasonably dangerous condition inside the liquor store. Moreover, Smiley testified that he was unaware of any other slip and fall incidents on the liquor store floor, whether it was raining or not. Therefore, the precaution of placing a "slippery when wet" sign out when it rains does not establish constructive notice of an unreasonably dangerous condition.

Johnson, 2019 WL 4187744, at *3. The appellate court also rejected Johnson's request to follow the *Iwai* plurality. *Id.* at *4.

In its decision, the appellate court did not acknowledge testimony from the store clerk that the slippery-when-wet sign was *needed* whenever it rained, not just placed as a precaution. RP 90:15-91:2 & 108:19-21.

The appellate court did not acknowledge the length of time it had been raining, i.e., approximately 5 ½ hours, according to the testimony of Johnson and Pallas. RP 148:3-4, 178:12-20, 381:1-382:1 & 383:24-25. Instead, the Court relied on Smiley's contrary testimony that he "did not remember the ground being wet when he arrived at the store, and he testified

that he believed it began raining approximately 15 minutes before Johnson entered the store." *Johnson*, 2019 WL 4187744, at *1.

While the appellate court noted that it had been a busy morning at the store, *id.* at *1; the court did not acknowledge that "[r]ainy days *always* bring muddy footprints." RP 97:11 (brackets & emphasis added); because there was no awning outside of the building, RP 108:7-12.

Lastly, the appellate court did not acknowledge that the store had been open for approximately 1 ½ hours on this rainy, busy morning before Johnson was injured. RP 89:9-10

B. Exclusion of Johnson's expert.

Johnson retained Dan Johnson, PhD (no relation), as an expert to testify regarding the circumstances of her injury. Dr. Johnson has his PhD in experimental psychology and is a Certified Professional Ergonomist. Ergonomics, also called Human Factors, relates knowledge of human capabilities, limitations and characteristics to design of tools, machines, and environments to ensure safe use. CP 350.

Dr. Johnson interviewed Johnson and reviewed video footage and photographs of the WSLCB store where she was injured. CP 351. He also reviewed medical records, CP 351, and the shoes Johnson was wearing when she was injured, CP 360, and tested the slip resistance of the floor where she was injured, CP 362.

Dr. Johnson explained how water on the floor of the WSLCB store created a dangerous condition:

Water, acting as a lubricant between the shoe and the floor, can reduce the slip resistance of the surface (NSC, 1986). This is true even when the floors have polish films which may increase the slip resistance between a dry floor and a person's footwear. Braun and Roemer (1974, p. 70) state: "Moistened polish films exhibit a completely different behavior towards friction than dry ones, since water forms a lubricating film which leads to a different kind of mechanism." Templer reports that only selected combinations of wet shoes and surfaces result in a slip resistance value greater than 0.4 (Templer, 1992, V. 2, pp. 51-53). For example, while the slip resistance of carpet is high when dry (more than 0.75) it is lower when wet though still in what might be considered a safe range (0.4) up to 0.75). But, he reports, many other surfaces (e.g., linoleum, concrete, granolithic, clay tiles and terrazzo) which are slip resistant when dry lose slip resistance when wet and exhibit values between 0.2 to less than 0.4 (Ibid, Table 3.5, p. 52). In other words, a person stepping onto a surface covered with a layer of water may experience only half, or less, of the slip resistance that surface would have provided when dry.

CP 353-54. A wet linoleum floor violates applicable safety standards for the slip-resistance of walking surfaces, as confirmed by later testing. CP 354-55 & 362.

On the basis of his expertise and review of this case, Dr. Johnson concluded:

- 1) Ms. Johnson had no physical condition that contributed to her fall. She was properly dressed and was wearing footwear the soles and heels of which are known to decrease the chance of a slip and fall. She was behaving in an expected and predictable manner.
- 2) If the floor had been slip resistant when wet, as required by Code, then, on a more probable than not basis, this fall would have been prevented.

- 3) If carpet mats had been arranged so that entering customers would have to walk on them after entering the store, and if any saturated mats had been replaced, then on a more probable than not basis this fall would have been averted.
- 4) If a warning had been placed so that entering customers could see them in time to alter their gait before stepping onto the wet floor, then, on a more probable than not basis, the chance of this fall occurring would have been reduced.

CP 357-58.

WSLCB filed a motion in limine to preclude Dr. Johnson from testifying. CP 294-97. The superior court granted the motion. RP 17:22-26:23 (argument and oral ruling); CP 439-41 (written order). The court justified its decision on grounds that Dr. Johnson's testing of the floor was performed too long after Johnson was injured and the rest of his opinions were matters of common knowledge. RP 26:5-16 & 35:20-24.

Johnson sought review of this decision under RAP 2.4(a) and CR 50(d). Resp. Br., at 2 (RAP 2.4(a) assignment of error); *id.* at 14-16 (statement of the case); *id.* at 44-45 (citing CR 50(d); *id.* at 46-47 (conclusion). Johnson argued that the time between her injury and the testing performed by the expert goes to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility. *Id.* at 45-46 (argument). She also argued that the expert testimony She asked the court to reverse the exclusion would assist the jury in evaluating multiple issues related to liability, causation and damages, including the dangerous nature of the condition created by the

lubricating effect of water on the floor, the mechanics of injury, and applicable standards regarding slip resistance, floor mats, and warning signs. *Id.* However, the Court of Appeals declined to address the issue without explanation.

ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with the holding of *Iwai* regarding sufficiency of the evidence to go to the jury, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

RAP 13.4(b)(1) authorizes review "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." (Brackets added.) In this case, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holding of the Court in *Iwai*. "When dealing with a plurality opinion, the holding of the court is the position of the justice(s) concurring on the narrowest grounds." *Kitsap All. of Prop. Owners v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 152 Wn. App. 190, 197, 217 P.3d 365 (2009), *rev. granted & cause remanded*, 168 Wn.2d 1031, 231 P.3d 166 (2010); *accord In re Parentage of C.A.M.A.*, 154 Wn.2d 52, 61, 109 P.3d 405, 410 (2005).

The concurring opinion by Justice Alexander represents the narrowest grounds for the decision in *Iwai*. The lead opinion by Justice Dolliver stated that the plaintiff should be entitled to present her evidence to the jury under the reasonably foreseeable standard for premises liability

toward business invitees, rather than the constructive notice standard. *See* 129 Wn.2d at 87-102. The dissenting opinion by Justice Guy would limit the reasonably foreseeable standard to certain types of self-service stores, and stated that the plaintiff should not be entitled to present her evidence to the jury under the constructive notice standard. *Id.* at 103-04. The concurring opinion by Justice Alexander agreed with the dissent, that the reasonably foreseeable standard should be limited and that the constructive notice standard should be applied, but agreed with the lead opinion that the plaintiff should be entitled to present her evidence to the jury. *Id.* at 102-03. Because Justice Alexander's concurrence rests upon the narrowest grounds, it constitutes the holding of the Court regarding the sufficiency of the evidence to go to the jury in a case of premises liability toward business invitees.

The facts held to be sufficient to go to the jury were described in the lead opinion as follows:

Plaintiffs offered very little evidence to support their negligence claim. Plaintiffs argued there was no sand, gravel, or railings available in the parking lot at the time of Iwai's fall, a claim which Defendants did not refute. However, the absence of those aids does not in itself constitute negligence. The only solid piece of evidence regarding the actual and specific parking lot conditions on the day Iwai slipped is temperature and precipitation information from the National Weather Reports. All other details rest entirely on Iwai's own uncorroborated statements in her deposition and in the complaint. Iwai's deposition offers only the vague and general description of there being ice, covered by a trace amount of snow.

Employment Security did not have the opportunity to document the parking lot conditions on November 29th because Plaintiff did not notify Employment Security of the accident until the following week. Defendants dispute that they had any notice of the accident prior to the lawsuit being filed on July 23, 1986.

In the attempt to show that Defendants had notice of the dangerous condition, Plaintiffs deposed John Lester, who was in charge of maintenance for Employment Security's parking lots at the time of Iwai's fall. With the deposition taking place almost five years after the accident, Lester had no specific recollection of the conditions during the month that Iwai fell. Nonetheless, he was questioned in detail about the parking lot.

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