# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/23/2020 1:14 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98726-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DARCY L. JOHNSON, a single woman,

Petitioner,

v.

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD,

Respondent.

#### STATE RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MICHAEL P. LYNCH WSBA # 10913 Senior Counsel P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 Phone: (360) 586-6300

Michael J. Throgmorton WSBA # 44263 P.O. Box 11880 Olympia, WA 98508-1880 2674 RW Johnson Rd. Tumwater, WA 98512 (360) 784-3480

#### **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with *Iwai*

Johnson does not identify a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and *Iwai* meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). While she argues the facts she presented regarding constructive notice compare favorably to the facts this Court held were sufficient to submit to a jury in *Iwai*, Johnson made no argument in the Court of Appeals that Iwai required submission of her case to the jury, choosing instead to confine her argument below to urging the Court of Appeals to adopt the plurality opinion from *Iwai* and relieve her of the burden of establishing notice altogether. Johnson has therefore not preserved any issue regarding Iwai. See, e.g., State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (noting "[a]n issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this Court"); Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Peterson, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973) (declining to review "issues and theories not appropriately raised in the Court of Appeals, particularly . . . when such issues and theories were not presented in either the trial court or the Court of Appeals").

Judgment as a matter of law sought with a CR 50(a) motion is governed by the applicable substantive law, not the trial court's instructions

to the jury. *Kim v. Dean*, 133 Wn. App. 338, 349, 135 P.3d 978 (2006). Nonetheless, Johnson repeatedly argued to the court of appeals that review was controlled and limited by the "law of the case doctrine," including Instruction Thirteen; an Instruction that required constructive notice. *See*, Resp. Br. at 23-25. Accordingly, she should not now be heard to argue to the contrary. *Id. See* Jury Instr. 13, App. A, CP 520.

Regardless, even if the Court indulges Johnson's attempt to compare her case *Iwai*, Johnson fares no better. *Iwai* involved a fall on an icy parking lot where there was no dispute that the owner had notice of the icy conditions. 129 Wn.2d at 87. In *Iwai*, there was historical evidence of numerous complaints of cars spinning out in the parking lot where the plaintiff fell, as well as expert testimony that "persons and cars 'would more probably than not' be expected to slip without special sanding or de-icing due to the steep nature of the [parking lot's] slope." *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 88-89 (Dolliver, J.) (emphasis in original). By contrast, in the case at bar, there was no evidence that anyone had ever previously fallen in the store (RP 106), there was no expert testimony, and the floor was level.

More importantly, unlike the plaintiff in *Iwai*, Johnson attempted to establish constructive notice of a hazardous condition *inside* the store based the clerk's knowledge of the prevailing weather conditions *outside* the store. *Johnson*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1011 at \*3. This was insufficient, since Johnson

offered no evidence as to how long the water she alleged she slipped on had been inside the store. See, e.g., Kangley v United States, 788 F.2d 533, 535 (9th Cir. 1986) (notice "that it is wet outside" is "not enough to establish that an owner or occupier knows the floor might be dangerous" inside); Charlton, 158 Wn. App. at 915 (same); Cooper v. Ross Dress for Less, Inc., 2014 WL 637644 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 18, 2014) ("In the absence of any evidence regarding the length of time the condition was present, the jury will not be given the opportunity to draw inferences that are based on nothing but speculation.") (unpublished decision); Coleman v. Ernst Home Ctr., Inc., 70 Wn. App. 213, 220, 853 P.2d 473 (1993) ("[W]here circumstantial evidence leads only to speculation, a verdict cannot be based on inferences drawn from the evidence"). As the Court of Appeals aptly noted, "without any evidence that there was actually water on the floor or how long water had been on the floor, Johnson cannot establish that Smiley had constructive notice of an unreasonably dangerous condition inside the liquor store." Johnson, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1011 at \*3.

Johnson points to circumstantial evidence surrounding the length of time it had been raining, the busy morning at the store, and Smiley's testimony regarding the proclivity of rainy days to "bring muddy footprints." Pet. Br. at 7-8. None of these, however, provided evidence as

to how long the water Johnson alleges she slipped on had been on the floor.<sup>3</sup> *See Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 97 (noting "the specific icy patch allegedly causing Plaintiff's fall was a temporary condition, and under the traditional position, Plaintiffs must show the specific and particular condition had existed long enough for Defendants to become aware of it"). As Justice Dolliver's plurality acknowledged, "[u]nder the traditional rule, the lack of such evidence precludes recovery." *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 97-98 (citing *Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 458; *Brandt*, 72 Wn.2d at 451-52; *Merrick v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 67 Wn.2d 426, 429, 407 P.2d 960 (1965)). Having failed to garner a majority, Justice Dolliver's opinion did not change that. *See, e.g., Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 918 ("[I]n the absence of a majority, the *Iwai* opinion is not binding precedent and, so far, no other Washington court has extended *Pimentel* beyond the self-service setting."); *Fredrickson*, 131 Wn. App. at 192 (same).

Here, the clerk had no constructive notice of an unreasonably dangerous condition inside the store, and the case was tried under a liability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Johnson also cites Smiley's testimony that a warning sign was "needed" when it rained as evidence purportedly establishing knowledge. Pet. Br. at 7. At the jury's request, however, Smiley clarified it was his practice to put out a sign whenever it rained, whether the floor was wet or not. RP 109. Such prophylactic measures are not evidence of dangerousness because they are not triggered by, and exist independently of, an actual specific danger. *See Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 911-15 (holding plaintiff failed to offer evidence of dangerousness despite the placement of two large yellow cones stating "Caution, Wet Floor"). In any case, as the Court of Appeals held, Smiley's failure to place out such a caution sign is evidence of neither knowledge of dangerousness nor of notice that water was on the floor. *Johnson*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1011 at \*7 (2019) (unpublished).

\*3. CP 520; RP 921. Well-established case law recognizes that such evidence is insufficient as a matter of law to establish a prima facie case of negligence in Washington. *See, e.g., Knopp v. Kemp & Hebert*, 193 Wash. 160, 164, 74 P.2d 924 (1938); *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 97-98; *Kangley*, 788 F.2d. at 535; *Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 915. Absent a conflict with a majority opinion of this Court, Johnson fails to demonstrate grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court should therefore deny the Petition for Review.

### B. Johnson's Invitation to Adopt the *Iwai* Plurality Does Not Represent An Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Lacking sufficient evidence of notice, Johnson urges the Court to relieve her of that burden by adopting Justice Dolliver's plurality opinion in *Iwai*. Pet. Br. at 15-18. There, Justice Dolliver advocated dispensing with the self-service requirement to the notice exception altogether and instead impose liability any time "the nature of the proprietor's business and [its] methods of operation are such that the existence of unsafe conditions on the premises is reasonably foreseeable." *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 100.

Johnson did not preserve this argument, and the Court should not consider it. Even if it did, however, the Court should decline Johnson's invitation to fundamentally change premises liability in Washington.

## 1. Johnson has not preserved any argument that this Court should adopt the *Iwai* plurality

Johnson never asked the trial court to relieve her of the burden of establishing constructive notice by requesting a jury instruction based on Justice Dolliver's plurality opinion in *Iwai*. Having failed do so, Johnson should not be heard to advocate adoption of a standard the trial court was never given an opportunity to consider. *See Ryder's Estate v. Kelly-Springfield Tire Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 111, 114, 587 P.2d 160 (1978) (citing *Nelson v. Mueller*, 85 Wn.2d 234, 238, 533 P.2d 383 (1975)).

# 2. The *Iwai* plurality has been repeatedly rejected, and its proposed adoption does not represent an issue of substantial public interest

In *Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc.*, 123 Wn.2d 649, 654, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994), eight members of this Court held that "a relation between the hazardous condition and [a] self-service mode of operation of [a] business" is required for the notice exception to apply. Johnson asks the Court to eliminate the self-service requirement to the notice exception by adopting the analysis from Justice Dolliver's plurality in *Iwai*. Pet. Br. at 15-18. She argues that extending the self-service exception to the notice requirement to all cases by imposing liability whenever an injury-causing condition is "reasonably foreseeable" removes the "incentive for businesses to stick their heads in the sand to avoid discovering and remedying dangerous

conditions" and is more consistent with the duty of reasonable care to invitees. Pet. Br. at 16 (citing *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 101).

Setting aside the dubiousness of Johnson's assumption that the current standard incentivizes willful blindness on the part of businesses, a majority of this Court rejected Justice Dolliver's proposed expansion of the self-service exception in *Iwai*, agreeing instead that the existing notice requirement under the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 343 and § 343A "provide[s] adequate protection to invitees already"). *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 102-03 (Alexander, J. concurring); *Id.* at 103-04 (Guy, J. dissenting) (rejecting "the portion of the opinion that holds a landlord liable without actual or constructive notice of a dangerous condition and a reasonable time for repair"). No issue of substantial public interest is raised by a party who merely entreats the Court to reconsider its prior majority rulings.

Washington courts have consistently applied the Restatement's notice requirement, recognizing that the *Iwai* plurality is "not binding precedent." *Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 918; *Fredrickson*, 131 Wn. App. at 192. So have the federal courts. *Kangley*, 788 F.2d at 535 (holding the fact that it is wet outside is "not enough to establish that an owner or occupier knows the floor might be dangerous"). The Restatement standard remains sound, and nothing has changed in the fourteen years since this Court last declined to accept review of this issue. *See Fredrickson*, 157 Wn.2d 1026,

142 P.3d 608 (2006). Johnson's mere repetition of a 24-year-old argument that a majority of this Court has rejected does not represent an issue of substantial public interest.<sup>4</sup> This Court should therefore deny her Petition for Review.

#### C. The Exclusion of Johnson's Expert Does Not Merit Review

Johnson also asks this Court to review the exclusion of her expert, arguing the Court of Appeals' failure to consider that issue conflicts with other Courts of Appeals' decisions. Pet. Br. at 18-19. But Johnson failed to preserve this argument by not cross appealing that issue, and she cites no case law holding that RAP 2.4(a) requires appellate consideration of an issue on which a party has not cross appealed. The Court of Appeals opinion in this case is consistent with the decisions of this Court and of the Courts of Appeals. This Court should therefore deny the Petition for Review.

Johnson argues the Court of Appeals was obligated to consider the trial court's exclusion of her expert because she assigned error to it under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Johnson also argues that this Court later endorsed Justice Dolliver's opinion in *Iwai*, citing dicta from *Musci v. Graoch Assoc. Ltd. P'ship No. 12*, 144 Wn.2d 847, 859, 31 P.3d 684 (2001). Pet. Br. at 17. But *Musci* did not sanction imposing liability based solely on foreseeability whenever a plaintiff is unable to establish actual or constructive notice. *Musci* again recognized that to prevail in a premises liability action, a plaintiff "must prove (1) the landowner had actual or constructive notice of the danger, and (2) the landowner failed within a reasonable time to exercise sensible care in alleviating the situation." *Musci*, 144 Wn.2d at 859 (citing *Geise v. Lee*, 84 Wn.2d 866, 868, 529 P.2d 1054 (1975)). Thus, *Musci* applied the Restatement just as the Court did in *Iwai. Id.* at 863.

RAP 2.4(a) in responding to the State's appeal. Pet. Br. at 18-19. That rule provides, in pertinent part:

The appellate court will, at the instance of the respondent, review those acts in the proceeding below which if repeated on remand would constitute error prejudicial to the respondent. The appellate court will grant a respondent affirmative relief by modifying the decision which is the subject matter of the review only (1) if the respondent also seeks review of the decision by the timely filing of a notice of appeal or a notice of discretionary review, or (2) if demanded by the necessities of the case.

"While RAP 2.4(a) does not limit the scope of argument a respondent may make, it qualifies any relief sought by the respondent beyond affirmation of the lower court." *State v. Sims*, 171 Wn.2d 436, 443, 256 P.3d 285 (2011) (citing *In re Arbitration of Doyle*, 93 Wn. App. 120, 127, 966 P.2d 1279 (1998)). Thus, where a respondent seeks affirmative relief rather than merely urging additional grounds for affirmance, "notice of cross review is essential." *Robinson v. Khan*, 89 Wn. App. 418, 420, 948 P.2d 1347 (1998) (citing *Phillips Building Co. v. An*, 81 Wn. App. 696, 700, n.3, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996)).

Asking the Court of Appeals to reverse a trial court's evidentiary ruling does not merely urge another ground for affirmance, it seeks affirmative relief. *See Bolson v. Williams*, 181 Wn. App. 1016 at \*10 (May 27, 2014) (unpublished) (refusing to reverse the trial court's exclusion of L&I records absent a cross-appeal). Johnson's request that the Court of Appeals reverse the exclusion of her expert was therefore barred unless it was "demanded by the

necessities of the case." RAP 2.4(a)(2). As before the Court of Appeals, however, she offers no explanation for why the necessities of this case require this Court to review the trial court's evidentiary ruling, nor for her failure to cross-appeal. Johnson also cites no case law requiring the Court of Appeals to consider, under RAP 2.4(a), an issue on which she failed to cross appeal;

particularly where the appellate disposition was reversal, not remand.

Absent such case law, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

V. CONCLUSION

In this case, the only evidence Johnson offered was that she slipped in a store on a rainy day and that the clerk was aware it was raining. RP 97. Such evidence is insufficient to establish liability in Washington. *See, e.g., Knopp*, 193 Wash. at 164; *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 97-98; *Kangley*, 788 F.2d. at 535; *Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 915. The Court of Appeals' decision is

consistent with these precedents, and Johnson provides no valid basis for

review. The State therefore asks the Court to deny the petition for review.